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TO ALL PARTIES AND THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD HEREIN:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, Plaintiff Omega S.A. ("Plaintiff' or "Omega")

hereby moves this Court, the Honorable Terr J. Hatter, Jr., United States District

Court Judge, located in the United States Courthouse, Courtoom 17, 312 North

Spring Street, Los Angeles, California! for an order granting summary judgment in

favor of Omega against Defendant Costco Wholesale Corporation ("Costco") on

Omega's cause of action for copyright infringement under 17 U.S.C. § 106, 501, and

602, and on Costco's First through Seventh Affirmative Defenses.2

This Motion is made on the grounds that there are no issues of material fact

and as a matter of law, Omega is entitled to summary judgment for copyright

infringement under 17 U.S.C. § 106, 501, and 602 and on Costco's First through

Seventh Affirmative Defenses.

Omega seeks summary judgment on the following:

A. Omega's Claim for Copyright Infringement: That an interlocutory

summary judgment be granted in favor of Omega and against Costco as

to liability alone, pursuant to F.R.C.P. 56(d)(2), on Omega's copyright

infringement action as alleged in the complaint under 17 V.S.C. §106,

501, and 602.

B. Costco's First Affirmative Defense: That Judgment be ordered

against Costco dismissing with prejudice its First Affirmative Defense

claiming that the complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief may

be granted, in that the V.S. owner of copyright or its affiliates have

acquiesced in or authorized the placing of the subject merchandise into

! By Order dated June 11, 2009, the Court has set a date of August i 7, 2009

for hearing the instant motion.

2 If granted en toto, trial would be limited to issues of remedy, including

damages, a permanent injunction, and attorneys' fees.
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C.

the stream of international commerce and have authorized, directly or

by implication, its importation into the United States within the

meaning of Section 602(a) of the Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §602(a).

Second Affirmative Defense: That Judgment be ordered against

Costco dismissing with prejudice its Second Affirmative Defense

claiming that the Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief may

be granted, because the statutory provisions upon which the Complaint

is based do not apply when a work subject to a claim of copyright is

first sold or distributed by the U.S. owner of copyright itself of its

affiliates.

Third Affirmative Defense: That Judgment be ordered against Costco

dismissing with prejudice its Third Affirmative Defense claiming that

the Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted,

in that the statutory provisions upon which the Complaint is based

apply only to the act of importation and do not apply to the act of resale

by persons not engaged in the act of importation.

Fourth Affirmative Defense: That Judgment be ordered against

Costco dismissing with prejudice its Fourth Affirmative Defense

claiming that the action is barred by the First Sale Doctrine, either at

common law, or as codified at U.S.C. § 109, or both.

Fifth Affirmative Defense: That Judgment be ordered against Costco

dismissing with prejudice its Fifth Affirmative Defense claiming that

the action is barred because Costco is a good faith purchaser for value.

Sixth Affirmative Defense: That Judgment be ordered against Costco

dismissing with prejudice its Sixth Affirmative Defense claiming that

the action is barred by waiver and/or estoppel.

AND

D.

E.

F.

G.
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1 H. Seventh Affirmative Defense: That Judgment be ordered against

2 Costco dismissing with prejudice its Seventh Affirmative Defense

3 claiming that the Complaint otherwise fails to state a claim upon which

4 relief may be granted.

5 This motion is based on the Notice of Motion and Motion, the attached

6 Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the accompanying Declarations of Sükrü

7 Cital, David Polturak, Raynald Aeschlimann, and Thomas P. Gulick and exhibits

8 attached thereto, the accompanying Plaintiffs Statement of Uncontroverted Facts

9 and Conclusions of Law filed concurrently herewith, all of the records, pleadings

10 and papers on file in this action, and upon such further oral or documentary

11 evidence as may be presented at or before the hearing on this motion.

12 This Motion is made after conferences of counsel pursuant to Central District

13 Local Rule 7-3, in writing and in person, as acknowledged in the Order of the Court

14 dated June 11,2009. See the accompanying Declaration of Thomas P. Gulick ~ 22.

15 DATED: July 13,2009 COLLEN IP

16 THEODORA, ORIGHER, MILLER & RICHMAN, P.C.

17
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By:
Jess Collen
David S. Richman
Attorneys for Plaintiff Omega S.A.

753633.1/21475.05002 3 CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
OMEGA S.A.'S NOTICE OF MOTION AND RENEWED MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (PUBLIC

VERSION)

Case 2:04-cv-05443-TJH-RC   Document 296    Filed 07/13/09   Page 4 of 36

Law Office of Shourin Sen     http://www.senlawoffice.com     Tel.: (888) 693-7125     International Tel.: (347) 455-1250



1

2

3

4
i.

II.
5

6
III.

iv.
7

8

9
(j
i: 10
~'

~ 11::u..
12i:

~
ii 13~
""
""..

14~
~'
~

15::
\:
~..

16~a
'i 17iia
Qa 18~
::h

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pa1?e

INTRODUCTION............................................................................................. 1

STATEMENT OF FACTS........... ........ ................................ ..... ................. .......3

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD .........................................................7

LEGAL ARGUMENT ................................. ..... ........ .... ..... ............................... 9

A. OMEGA is ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ITS
CLAIM FOR COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT UNDER 17
U.S.C. §§ 106(3) AND 602(a). ...............................................................9

1. Omega Owns Copyright Registration V Au-574-660. .................. 9

2. B~s~c~ f§°íöt~)~n~oEò2aft. .~~~.i.~~~~~~~. ~~.~.~~. .~':...............1 0

(a) Section 106(3)................................................................... 10

(b) Section 602( a)................................................................... 10

(i)

(ii)

Omega is the owner of the copyright work............ 1 1

Copies of the work were imported into the
United States without the authority of the
owner of the copyright. ..........................................12

(iii)

Costco is a member of the chain of
distribution. .................................................. 12

(b) The importation was not authorized by
Omega. ......................................................... 12

The imported copies were acquired outside
the United States..................................................... 13

(a)

(iv) None of 
the exceptions to 17U.S.C. § 602

apply. ...................................................................... 14

B. SUMMARY JUDGMENT is WARRNTED ON COSTCO'S
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES. ..............................................................15

1. Costco' s Seventh Affirmative Defense for failure to state a
claim upon which relief can be granted fails as Omega has
established its copyright infringement claim. .............................16

2. Costco's Second and Fourth Affirmative Defenses fail
because § 109 does not apply where the goods are
manufactured abroad................................................................... 1 7

753633.1/21475.05002 i CV04-5443 (Til) (RCx)
OMEGA S.A.'S NOTICE OF MOTION AND RENEWED MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (PUBLIC

VERSION)

Case 2:04-cv-05443-TJH-RC   Document 296    Filed 07/13/09   Page 5 of 36

Law Office of Shourin Sen     http://www.senlawoffice.com     Tel.: (888) 693-7125     International Tel.: (347) 455-1250



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9
(j
i: 10 V.
~'
'i
~ 11::u..

12i:
~
~ 13~
""
""..

14~
ii'
~

15::
\:
~..

16~a
-." 17iia
Qa 18~
~

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

3. Costco's First Affirmative Defense Fails Because Costco
did not have Omega's authority to Distribute Goods
Bearing the Copyrighted WorK................................................... 19

(a) Omega's Behavior Consistently Conveyed
Vigilance.................................................. ......... ................ 19

(b) Costco Was Expressly Notified That it Did Not
Have Omega's Authority to Sell Omega Watches........... 22

4. Costco's Sixth Affirmative Defense for Estoppel and
Waiver Must FaiL. ....................................................................... 23

5. Costco's Third and Fifth Affirmative Defenses fail as a
matter of law because every member of the chain of
distribution is liable for copyright infringement and
Costco's intent or knowledge is irrelevant to a finding of
liabili ty. ....................................................................................... 24

CONCLUSION............................................................................................... 28

753633.1/21475.05002 11 CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
OMEGA SA.'S NOTICE OF MOTION AND RENEWED MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (PUBLIC

VERSION)

Case 2:04-cv-05443-TJH-RC   Document 296    Filed 07/13/09   Page 6 of 36

Law Office of Shourin Sen     http://www.senlawoffice.com     Tel.: (888) 693-7125     International Tel.: (347) 455-1250



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9
(j
i: 10
~'
'i
~ 11::u..

12i:
~
ii 13~
""
""-.

14~
ii'

~ 15\:
:!

16iia
'i 17iia
Qa 18~
~

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Pa1?e

CASES

A&M Records v. Napster, Inc.,
239 F.3d 1004 (9th Cir. 2001).............................................................20,22,23

Ander477 Vù ~J~2~~ fíolll) .~~~'.:.................................................................................. 8

BMG Music v. Perez, h
952 F.2d 318 (9t Cir. 1991) ..........................................................16, 17, 18, 19

Celote:ì 7~oilS ~'3 ffF(ig~6) ......................................................................................7, 8

Columbia Broadcasting Systems, Inc. v. Scorpio Music Dist., Inc.,
569 F. Supp. 4 7 (B.D. Pa. 1983)............................................................. ..passim

Denbicare U.S.A., Inc. hV. Toys "R" Us, Inc.,
84 F.3d 1143 (9t Cir. 1996) ......................................................................26,27

Disen097vp Sds~77 Ø1hlëi~.li k96f'.'..... ..... ..... ............... ....... ......... .... ........ ....... ..... .....20

Educational Testing Service v. Simon,
95 F. Supp. 2d 1081 (C.D. CaL. 1999)......................................................11,24

Effects Associates, Inc. v. Cohen,
908 F.2d 555 (9th Cir.1990) ............................................................................20

Korman v. HBC Fla., Incw
182 F.3d 1291 (11 t Cir. 1999) ........................................................................20

Lingo Corp. v. Topix, Inc.,
2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1437 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) .........................................17, 18

Marde45Ö ~~fd445 (9th Cir. 2006) .............................................................................. 9

Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp.,
475 U. S. 574 (1986) .......................................................................................... 8

Microsoft Cor¡z. v. rntrax Group, Inc., .
2008 U.S. DiSt. LEXIS 83756 (N.D. CaL. 2008)........................................:....16

Parfums Givenchy, Inc. v. C & C Beauty Sales, Inc.,
832 F. Supp. 1378 (C.D. Cal. 1993)....................................................... ..passim

Qualitl Kil1g Distributors, Inc. v. L 'anza Research Intl, Inc.,
523 U.S. 135 (1998) ......................................................................10,17,18,19

753633.1/21475.05002 HI CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
OMEGA SA.'S NOTICE OF MOTION AND RENEWED MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (PUBLIC

VERSION)

Case 2:04-cv-05443-TJH-RC   Document 296    Filed 07/13/09   Page 7 of 36

Law Office of Shourin Sen     http://www.senlawoffice.com     Tel.: (888) 693-7125     International Tel.: (347) 455-1250



u
Q.

~-
'i
~
::u..i:
~
ii
~
""

~
ii~
::
\:
:!
iia
-.iia
'"-.a
~
~

1 S O.S §86' F:tial8s1' (BlfCir. 1989)............................................................................ 9

2 Sebastian lnt 'llnc. v. C9insumer Contacts (PTY) Ltd.,

3 847 F.2d 1093 (3r Cir. 1988)....................................................................17,18
Swatch SA. v. New City Inc.

4 454 F. Supp.2d 1245 (S.D. Fla. 2006).......................................................17, 26

5 Thompson v. Looney's Tavern Prods.,

6 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 27551 (11 th Cir. 2006)..............................................23
U2 Home Entertainment Inc. v. Lai Ying Music & Video Trading,

7 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9853 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) ...............................................17

8 UA Local 343 v. Nor-rral Plumbing, Inc.,

9 48 F.3d 1465 (9 Cir. 1994) ..............................................................................8

10 UMG Recordings, Inc. v. Disco Azteca Dist., Inc.,446 F. Supp. 2d 1164 (E.D. Ca. 2006) ..........................................10,24, 25, 27

i 1 UMG RecordÍlt-gs, Inc. v. Norwalk Distribs., Inc.,

12 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26302 (C.D. Cal. 2003) .......................................16, 17

13 STATUTES

14 17 U.S.C.

15 § 106..................................................................................................... .. ..passim

16 § 106(3)................. ................. ....... ..................... ............ ......... ............ ....... ........1

1 7 § 501 ............................................................................................................ 1, 27

i 8 § 602 ......................................................................................................... passim

19 § 602( a)................................................................................................... ..passim

20 § 109 ................................................................................................................ 17

21 § 1 09( a) .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . ... .. ... . .. . .. ..... .......... .. .. .. .... .. ......... . .... ........ . ........... ...... 1, 8, 17

22

23 RULES

24 F.R.C.P.
Rule 12(b)( 6) ..................... .......... ......... .......... ....... ......... ........................ .........16

Rule 5 6( c) ...................................................................................................... 7, 8
25

26

27

28
753633.\121475.05002 iv CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
OMEGA SA.'5 NOTICE OF MOTION AND RENEWED MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (PUBLIC

VERSION)

Case 2:04-cv-05443-TJH-RC   Document 296    Filed 07/13/09   Page 8 of 36

Law Office of Shourin Sen     http://www.senlawoffice.com     Tel.: (888) 693-7125     International Tel.: (347) 455-1250



3

4

5

6

7

8

9
(j
i: 10
~'

~ 11::u..
12i:

~
~ 13~
""
::

14~
~'~

15::
\:
~..

16iia
'i 17iia
Qa 18~
~

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

1

2 I.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

INTRODUCTION

Omega seeks summary judgment on its copyright infringement claim against

Costco for infringing Omega's exclusive rights under 17 V.S.C. §§ 106(3) and

602(a) by offering for sale, selling, and distributing unauthorized copies of Omega's

registered copyrighted work which were imported into the United States without

Omega's authority. Omega is a Swiss company and is the owner of copyright

registration V Au 574-660 (the copyrighted work referred to by its title "Omega

Globe Design"). Copyright registration is prima facie evidence of the validity of the

copyright. Copies of Omega's copyrighted works were manufactured in

Switzerland by Omega and sold to non-United States distributors with terrtorial

restrictions on resale. Watches bearing the Omega Globe Design were imported

into the United States by third parties who were not authorized by Omega to do so.

Costco obtained the goods for resale in the U.S., although it is not an authorized

dealer of Omega's products.

Omega also seeks summary judgment on several of Costco' s affirmative

defenses. Costco's affirmative defenses all fail as a matter of law. These defenses

include failure to state a claim for which relief can be granted, which fails because

copyright infringement under §§ 106, 501 and 602 have been recognized by the

Courts and factually established by Omega.

Notwithstanding the Ninth Circuit's decision in an appeal in this case,!

Costco has refused to withdraw and continues to claim that Omega's action is barred

by the first sale doctrine and because 17 U.S.C. §§ 106 and 602 do not apply when

the work is first sold or distributed by a U.S. copyright owner or its affiliates. 'Both

of these defenses fail because controllng authority in this Circuit allows for a first

sale doctrine defense under § 109(a) of the Copyright Act only when goods are

! Omega S.A. v. Costco Wholesale Corporation 541 F. 3d 982 (9th Cir. 2008).

753633.1121475.05002 1 CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
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"lawfully made under this title"-i.e. goods sold or manufactured in the U.S. This

definition is consistent with the purpose of the Copyright Act to promote the useful

arts while striking a balance with the rights of the public, granting the copyright

owner the value of the first sale in the United States. Case law also establishes that

copyright infringement exists when the work is manufactured outside the United

States and first sold to distributors outside the United States with restrictions on

resale - where no authorization has been given to import the copies into the United

States for resale.

Similarly, Costco's affirmative defense that §§ 106 and 602 apply only to the

act of importation but not resale of those same copies by those that did not import

(hereinafter, "those in the chain of importation") must also faiL. The courts
recognize that if such a defense were accepted, then infringers could readily avoid

enforcement by simply using a straw to avoid the act of importation, and thus

infringement, even though the copies remain unauthorized. Costco's affirmative

defense that it is a good faith purchaser for value is irrelevant and as such must faiL.

Copyright infringement is similar to a strict liability tort where all of the members of

the chain of distribution are jointly and severally liable. Whether Costco is a good

faith purchaser for value is not even relevant to the analysis. Costco obtained copies

of Omega's copyrighted work that infringed on Omega's right to distribute under §§

106 and 602. Costco is a member of the chain of distrbution of the ilegal

importation of the copyrighted work and operated without the authority of Omega.

Thus, Costco is recognized as an infringer of Omega's copyright.

Finally, Omega should be granted summary judgment on Costco's affirmative

defenses of waiver and/or estoppel and for Costco's claim that Omega gave direct or

implied authority to import the copyrighted works into the U.S. which were in

Costco's possession. There was only a very short time span between when Omega

first learned of these watches being available at Costco and the time when Omega

753633.1/21475.05002 2 CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
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1 verified that these watches were imported into the U.S. without Omega's authority.

2 Omega never authorized, directly or impliedly, nor consented to Costco's

3 distribution nor Costco' s position anywhere in the chain of importation of Omega's

4 copyrighted works. In fact, Omega explicitly informed Costco that it was not

5 authorized to distribute the works. There is no evidence to suggest that Omega has

6 waived or should be estopped from asserting its rights in this copyright infringement

7 action. There is no evidence to support Costco's affirmative defense that Omega

8 authorized the importation of the goods bearing the copyrighted Omega Globe

9 Design that Costco obtained.

10 Because there is no evidence provided by Costco to support its claim and no

11 genuine issue of material fact, as a matter of law, Omega is entitled to summary

12 judgment on these affirmative defenses.

13 II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

14 Omega is a foreign (Swiss) manufacturer of watches including the OMEGA

15 brand watches. See Omega's Statement of Uncontroverted Facts ("Pi"s SUF") # 1.

16 Omega distributes its watches through authorized distrbutors and dealers

17 throughout the world including the United States. See Pi"s SUF # 2. The Swatch

18 Group (US) Inc. ("Swatch") distributes OMEGA brand watches, in the United

19 States. See PI.' s SUF # 3. Swatch sells and distributes OMEGA brand watches

20 through authorized retailers in the United States only. See Pl.'s SUF # 4.

21 Omega obtained a registration V Au 574-660 for its copyright in the "Omega

22 Globe Design" on March 12, 2003. See PI.' s SUF #5. Omega began selling

23 watches bearing the Omega Globe Design in September 2003. See PI.'s SUF #6.

24 Costco is a publicly traded company engaged in operating retail services for

25 wholesale goods. See Pi"s SUF # 7. Costco estimates its annual revenues as

26 approximately $58 bilion and has almost 50 million customers or members. See

27 Pi"s SUF # 8. Costco has not provided any evidence or any defense to contest the

28
753633.1121475.05002 3 CV04-5443 (Til) (RCx)
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1 validity of Omega's copyright. See Pi"s SUF # 9.

2 Omega's distribution policy dictates that the sale of its watches be made only

3 through its own stores, and retail distribution through authorized

4 retailers/distributors. See Pl.'s SUF # 10.

5 Omega requires contracts with its distributors which include territorial

6 restrictions and exacting quality control standards. See Pi"s SUF # 11.

7

8

9

10

REDACTED

11 See Pi"s SUF # 12.

12 Omega's contracts with its distributors and retailers limit the territories in

13 which they can distribute and sell the watches. See Pi"s SUF # 13. These measures

14 maintain the exclusivity and polished image of the OMEGA brand watches and

15 Omega is strict in its enforcement of this policy, terminating any distributor who is

16 in breach. See PI.'s SUF #14 and 15. In fact, for example, all of Omega's written

17 contracts with its distributors, such as OT AP in Turkey, specifically grant

18 authorization for resale only in limited geographic territories. See PI.'s SUF # 16.

1920 REDACTED
21

22 See PI.'s SUF # 17.
23 Costco is not an authorized retailer of OMEGA brand watches or authorized

24 to import, copy, sell or distribute copies bearing the Omega Globe Design. See PI.' s

25 SUF #18.

26 Costco was fully aware Omega had strict controls on the distribution and sale

27 of its watches. See PI.'s SUF # 19. REDACTED
28
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REDACTED

See Pi"s SUF # 22.

On May 28, 2004, Courtney Grafeld, an employee of Swatch, purchased an

Omega watch, bearing the copyrighted Omega Globe Design at Costco's retail store

in City of Industr, California. See Pi"s SUF #23. On July 9, 2004, Timothy

Santoni, an investigator hired by Omega purchased a second OMEGA watch,

bearing the Omega Globe Design copyright from a Costco retail store in Laguna

Niguel, California. See PI.' s SUF #24. The serial numbers of the two watches

purchased were 80682553 and 80734235. See Pl.'s SUF #25. Through

investigation of the serial numbers of the OMEGA watches purchased, it was

discovered that these watches were sold by Omega to distributors in Paraguay and

Egypt. See Pi"s SUF #26. These copies were imported and distributed in the U.S.

without Omega's authorization. See Pi"s SUF #27. On July 14, 2004, Omega S.A.

and The Swatch Group (U.S.), Inc. filed a complaint in the Central District of

California against Costco alleging copyright infringement. See Pi"s SUF #28.

On October 8, 2004, the Court granted a preliminary injunction against

Costco and ordered Costco to turn over the infringing goods. See PI.' s SUF #29.

The preliminary injunction provided that Costco was prohibited from "infringing

Omega's copyright in the Omega Globe Design in any manner" and "publishing,

selling, marketing, or otherwise disposing of any copies or goods bearing the

Omega Globe Design." See Pi"s SUF #30.

753633.1121475.05002 5 CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
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Pursuant to the preliminary injunction, on November 2, 2004, Costco

produced 74 Omega watches (with an approximate retail value of $1,999.99 each)

bearing the Omega Globe Design with an inventory list including serial numbers of

the watches produced. See Pi"s SUF #31. An additional 43 watches had been sold

by Costco and therefore their origin could not be traced by serial number. See PI.'s

SUF # 32. However, Costco admits that these watches bore the copyrighted Omega

Globe Design. See Pl.'s SUF #33. And, the suppliers, such as ENE, all show that

the goods were imported without authorization. See Pl.'s SUF #34.

None of these 74 watches bearing the Omega Globe Design were sold by

Omega to U.S. customers. All were sold to foreign distributors. See Pl.'s SUF # 35.

The watches were intended for resale outside the United States, and Omega never

authorized the importation or sale of these copies in the United States. See Pl.' s

SUF # 36 and 37. Omega's distributors were never authorized to export or sell these

copies bearing the Omega Globe Design to the United States. See Pl.'s SUF # 38.

These copyrighted works were imported and sold in the United States by others.

Omega never sold these goods in the United States. See PI.'s SUF # 39.

Omega is entitled to benefit from the sale of its copyrighted work in the

United States. Omega's copyright has been infringed through the importation and

distribution of goods bearing the copyrighted design without the authorization of the

copyright owner under 17 U.S.C. §§ 106(3) and 602(a). See Pl.'s SUF # 40. The

watches bearing the statutorily protected design were manufactured and sold outside

of the United States. See PI.'s SUF # 41. These watches were found available for

sale at Costco stores throughout the United States. See Pl.'s SUF #42.

The source of most of the watches bearing the Omega Globe Design was

25 ENE, Ltd. See PI.'s SUF # 43.26 REDACTED
27

28
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REDACTED See Pi"s SUF # 45.

In October 2005, and again in March 2006, after issuance by the Court of the

Preliminary Injunction, Costco produced a total of 366 additional watches,

manufactured and sold outside of the U.S., and imported them into the U.S. without

Omega's authority. See PI.'S SUF # 46. Costco turned these watches over to

Omega.

This Court granted summary judgment in favor of Costco on February 6,

2007. Omega appealed, and on September 3, 2008, the Ninth Circuit reversed this

Court's ruling and held the first sale defense under Section 109 does not apply to the

facts of this case, where the copyrighted works were made and sold abroad. Omega

SA. v. Costea Wholesale Corp., 541 F.3d 982, 990 (9th Cir. 2008) ("Omega SA.").

Costco's Petition for Rehearing En Banc was denied on February 17, 2009 and the

case was remanded to this Court for further proceedings.2 Notwithstanding, Costco

has refused to withdraw its affirmative defense in this regard. Accordingly, Omega

now moves this Court for judgment on its claim of copyright infringement and

dismissing Costco' s affirmative defenses.

III. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Under Rule 56( c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment

is appropriate in circumstances where the pleadings, depositions, answers to

interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with any affidavits, show that there

is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment

as a matter of law. F.R.C.P. 56(c); see Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317

(1986). Summary judgment "is properly regarded not as a disfavored procedural

shortcut, but rather as an integral part of the Federal Rules as a whole, which are

designed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determinations of every action."

2 Costco filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari with the U.S. Supreme Court,

on May 18,2009. Castea Wholesale Corp. v. Omega, SA., No. 08-1423.

753633.1/21475.05002 7 CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
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1 Id. at 327; see also Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574

2 (1986).

Plaintiff, as the moving party, bears the initial burden of demonstrating the

absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477

U.S. 242, 256 (1986). After the initial burden has been met, Rule 56(e) requires the

nonmoving part to identify facts that show a genuine issue for triaL. Celotex, 477

U.S. at 323-324. Only genuine issues where evidence is provided that a "reasonable

jury could return a verdict for the non-moving party - over facts that might affect

the outcome of, the suit under the governing law will properly preclude the entr of

summary judgment. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248.

On this motion, Plaintiff moves for an interlocutory summary judgment on

the issue ofliability alone, pursuant to Rule 56(d)(2). For summary judgment on the

issue of liability for the infringement of Plaintiffs copyright, Plaintiff must present

evidence which, if uncontroverted, would entitle it to prevaiL. VA Local 343 v. Nor-

Cal Plumbing, Inc., 48 F.3d 1465, 1471 (9th Cir. 1994). If summary judgment is

granted on the issue of liability, Plaintiff will establish its entitlement to damages

and other relief, including an injunction, at the time of triaL.

Plaintiff also moves for summary judgment on the first through seventh

affirmative defenses pleaded in Defendant's Answer, each of which is related to the

issue of liability. On these issues, Plaintiff has no burden to negate Defendant's

claims or produce any evidence showing the absence of a genuine issue of material

fact. Celotex, 477 U.S. at 323-325. "Instead.. .the burden on the moving party may

be discharged by 'showing' - that is pointing out to the district court-that there is

an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party's case." Id.

753633.1/21475.05002 8 CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
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1 iv. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. OMEGA is ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ITS

CLAIM FOR COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT UNDER 17 U.S.C.

§§ 106(3) AND 602(a).

To establish copyright infringement, the copyright holder must prove (1)

ownership of a valid copyright and (2) the infringement of one of the rights granted

under 17 U.S.C. § 106. Marder v. Lopez, 450 F.3d 445,453 (9th Cir. 2006).

1. Ome2:a Owns Copyri2:ht Re2:istration V Au-574-660.

On March 12, 2003, Omega obtained a copyright registration (Registration

No. V Au 574-660) for the Omega Globe Design. See Pi"s SUF # 5. A copyright

registration is prima facie evidence of a valid copyright and of the facts stated in the

certificate if made before or within five years of first publication. 17 U.S.C. §

410(c). See also S.0.s. Inc. v. Payday, Inc. 886 F.2d 1081, 1085-1086 (9th Cir.

1989). As stated in the registration, Omega completed the work in 2002 and

received a copyright registration in March of 2003 and the watches bearing the

Omega Globe Design were first sold in September of 2003. See Pi"s SUF # 5, 6,

and 47. Therefore, Omega has provided prima facie evidence of the validity of its

copyright in the Omega Globe Design.

As the owner of these copyright registrations, Omega has a rebuttable

presumption that their copyrights are valid. Id. Costco has failed to put forth any

evidence to the contrary and has not raised any defense or issue to contest the

validity of Omega's copyright. See Pi"s SUF #9.

As Omega has shown, it is the owner of valid copyright registration V Au

574-660. Omega then must show how Costco infringed on the exclusive rights 'of §§

106(3) and 602(a) granted to Omega under the Copyright Act.

753633.1121475.05002 9 CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
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1 2. Costco Committed Copvri1?ht Infrin1?ement Under 17 U.S.C.

2 §§ 106(3) and 602(a).
3 (a) Section 106(3)
4 The copyright owner is granted exclusive rights in its copyrighted works

5 under § 106 of the Copyright Act. Specifically, 17 U.S.C. § 106(3) grants the

6 copyright owner the right "to distribute copies or phonorecords of the copyrighted

7 work to the public by sale or other transfer of ownership, or by rental, lease, or

8 lending." Omega, as the owner of the copyright for the Omega Globe Design, is

9 entitled to the right to distribute copies of its work for sale to the public. Costco

10 infringed this right when it sold the two watches purchased by Omega's agents,

11 Timothy Santoni and Courtney Grafeld in 2004. See Pi"s SUF #23-27. In addition,

12 Costco admits that it sold 43 additional watches bearing the Omega Globe Design.

13 See Pi"s SUP #33.

14 (b) Section 602(a)
15 17 U.S.C § 602(a) prohibits the importation of copyrighted works acquired

16 outside the United States into the United States without the authority of the

17 copyright owner. Quality King Distributors, Inc. v. L'anza Research Int'l, Inc., 523

18 U.S. 135 (1998). There are three requirements for a copyright claim under 17

19 U.S.C. § 602(a): "(1) Plaintiff must be the 'owner of copyright' in the work in

20 question; (2) copies of the work must have been imported into the United States

21 'without the authority of the owner of copyright'; and (3) the imported copies must

22 have been 'acquired outside the United States.'" Parfums Givenchy, Inc. v. C & C

23 Beauty Sales, Inc., 832 F. Supp. 1378, 1383 (C.D. CaL. 1993) ("C&C Beauty").

24 Any party in the chain of distribution may be held liable for copyright infringement

25 - otherwise a distributor could avoid liability simply by using a straw to import the

26 unauthorized copies. UMG Recordings, Inc. v. Disco Azteca Dist., Inc., 446 F.

27 Supp. 2d 1164, 1173 (E.D. Ca. 2006) ("Disco Azteca"), citing Columbia

28
753633.1/21475.05002 10 CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
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1 Broadcasting Systems, Inc. v. Scorpio Music Dist., Inc., 569 F. Supp. 47, 48-49

2 (ED. Pa. 1983) ("CBS"). Lack of intent or knowledge of the infringement is no

defense to infringement. Educational Testing Service v. Simon, 95 F. Supp. 2d

1081, 1087 (numbered paragraph 33) (C.D. CaL. 1999). See also Parfums Givenchy,

Inc. v. Drug Emporium, Inc., 38 F.3d 477, 482 (9th Cir. 1994) ("Par/ums

Givenchy").

In C & C Beauty, the plaintiff owned a copyright in a two-dimensional artistic

design on the box containing Amarige perfume which was manufactured abroad.

832 F.Supp. at 1381. Defendant was an importer of grey market products who

imported and distributed the perfume products including the box containing the

copyrighted design. Id. at 1382. The court recognized the validity of the plaintiffs

copyright based on the prima facie evidence of the copyright registration. Id. at

1383. The Court looked at the pleadings and affidavits and found no question of

fact regarding the actions of the defendant importing and distributing the perfume .

with the copyrighted box acquired abroad, without plaintiffs consent. Id. The Court

found the test for infringement under § 602(a) had been met. ¡d. (Par/ums

Givenchy is based on the same set of facts as C&C Beauty. Id. at 1382.)

(i) Ome1?a is the owner of the copvrit!ht work.

Similar to the facts of Par/ums Givenchy, Omega has a copyright registration

(Reg. No. V Au 574-660) providing prima facie evidence of the validity of the

copyright. See supra at page 6-7. Omega manufactured these copyrighted works

outside of the United States (in Switzerland). See Pl.'s SUF # 1.
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1 (ii) Copies of the work were imported into the
2 United States without the authority of the owner

3 of the copyrie:ht.
4 (a) Costco is a member of the chain of5 distribution.
6 The second prong of the 602(a) test is also met, by Costco's own admissions.

7 Omega sold the watches bearing the Omega Globe Design to authorized distrbutors

8 in foreign countries. See Pi"s SUF # 48. Geographic restrictions were made with

9 regard to further resale to these distributors. See Pl.'s SUF # 10, 11, and 13. The 74

10 watches that Costco turned over to Omega pursuant to the Preliminary Injunction in

11 this case, in 2004, were obtained and available for sale at Costco retail stores in the

12 United States. See Pl.'s SUF # 42. Costco obtained the large majority of the

13 watches bearing the Omega Globe Design from the company ENE, Ltd. See PI.' s

14 SUF # 43.

1516 REDACTED17 See Pl.'s SUF #
18 51. The only entity authorized to import and distribute for resale in the U.S. is The

19 Swatch Group (U.S.) Inc. (Weehawken, New Jersey). PI.'s SUF # 3, 4, 10, 11, 13

20 and 52. None of these sources were entitled or authorized to import or distribute for

21 resale in the U.S.

22 (b) The importation was not authorized by23 Omega.
24 The Swatch Group (U.S.) Inc. is the only company authorized to impört or

25 distribute any Omega watches in the U.S. See Pl.'s SUF # 52. These watches

26 subject to this litigation were not imported, distributed or supplied by any authorized

27 persons or entities. See Pl.'s SUF # 41 and 55. The watches acquired by Costco

28
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ended up in the United States through unauthorized channels. Costco readily admits

it did not acquire these goods from Omega nor did it have Omega's consent to

import or distribute these watches. See Pl.'s SUF # 18. Costco was also aware its

supplier, ENE was not authorized. See Pl.'s SUF #45.

REDACTED

See Pl.'s SUF #46.

Similar to Par/urns Givenchy, where defendant admitted that distrbution and

importation of plaintiff s copyrighted goods were not with the plaintiff s consent,

Costco has distributed and acquired imported goods bearing Omega's copyrighted

Omega Globe Design without Omega's consent. 3 Due to these admissions, the

second prong is met for infringement under 17 U.S.C. § 602(a).

(Hi) The imported copies were acquired outside the
United States.

Omega manufactures watches bearing the Omega Globe Design in

Switzerland. See Pl.'s SUF # 1. The watches bearing the copyrighted Omega

Globe Design that Costco obtained were sold by Omega to distrbutors outside of

the United States with geographic restrictions on further resales. See Pl.' s SUF #

35-38, 41, 42, 46, 48, and 53. In order to obtain these copyrighted works for resale

in the United States, Costco had to acquire products from sources which indirectly

obtained the goods from Omega's foreign customers who then resold to

unauthorized distributors in the United States. Costco's supplier, ENE Ltd., is not

an authorized dealer of Omega watches. See Pl.'s SUP # 43 and 52. Costco was

aware that ENE did not acquire its goods from Omega in the United States. See

Pl.'s SUF # 44.

Similar once again to the facts in Par/urns Givenchy, Costco admits that the

3 Also see infra at pages 24-27 regarding Omega's right to pursue any

member in the chain of distribution for copyright infringement.

753633.\11475.05002 13 CV04-5443 (TJH) (RCx)
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watches bearing the Omega Globe Design copyright were manufactured abroad and

originally sold to distributors outside the United States. See Pi"s SUF # 1, 35-38,

41,42,46,48, and 53. Omega had placed geographic restrictions on the further sale

of those watches by its foreign distributors. See PI.'s SUF # 11 and 13. Costco's

watches were originally acquired abroad and imported by third parties into the

United States.

Therefore, Omega has established its § 602(a) claim because Costco obtained

imported copies of Omega's copyrighted works which were originally acquired

outside of the United States without the authority of Omega.

(iv) None of the exceptions to 17 U.S.C. § 602 apply.

Section 602(a) has 3 exceptions to infrnging importation of copies. The 3

exceptions are:

1. importation under U.S. government authority for school use or

audiovisual work for purposes other than archived use;

2. importation for private use of the importer, no more than one

copy of anyone work at any time, or forming a part of such

person's baggage; or

3. importation for scholarly, educational, or religious purposes and

not for private gain; 17 U.S.C. § 602.

Since the government did not grant authority and Costco did not have any

scholarly, educational or religious purpose, and certainly the copyrighted works

were imported for private gain, exceptions 1 and 3 do not apply. See PI.'s SUF #

56. By offering the copyrighted works for sale and obtaining such a large quantity,

Costco did not intend that these goods be limited to private use, and therefore,

exception 2 does not apply. See PI.'s SUF # 42 and 54. Costco is in violation of 17

D.S.C. § 602(a) and has infringed on Omega's exclusive rights under 17 U.S.C. §

§ 1 06(3) and 602(a).
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1 Because all of the elements of copyright infringement have been met under 17

2 U.S.C. §§ 106(3) and 602(a), and Omega has provided prima facie evidence of its

3 valid copyright, Omega is entitled to summary judgment for copyright infringement

4 as to the registered Omega Globe Design work.

5

6

7

8

9

10

B. SUMMARY JUDGMENT is WARRNTED ON COSTCO'S
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES.

Once infrngement has been established, the burden shifts to Costco as to its

affirmative defenses. However, there are no issues of material fact and Costco has

failed to produce evidence to support its affirmative defenses: failure to state a claim

for which relief can be granted (seventh affirmative defense), direct or implied

11 authorization (first affirmative defense), waiver and/or estoppel (sixth affirmative

12 defense), good faith purchaser for value (fifth affirmative defense), §§ 106 and 602

13 only apply to the act of importation not resale by those that did not import (third

14 affirmative defense), first sale doctrine (fourth affirmative defense), and failure to

15 state a claim because § 106 and 602 do not apply when the work is first sold or

16 distributed by U.S. owner of copyright or its affiliates (second affirmative defense).4

17 See Pl.'s SUF # 56.

18 Omega notes that it has not moved for summary judgment as to remedies for

19 infringement including but not limited to permanent injunction, wilfulness,

20 damages, statutory damages, and attorney's fees, as Omega reserves these issues for

21 determination at trial or as the Court may deem appropriate.

22

23

24

25 4 Omega has concurrently filed a motion to strike Defendant's Eleventh and
26 Twelfth Affirmative defenses for copyright misuse, a defense which was already

27 previously denied by the Court in Defendant's Motion to Amend its Answer, and
Defendant's Twelfth Affirmative defense for innocent infringement.

28
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1 1. Costco's Seventh Affirmative Defense for failure to state a

2 claim upon which relief can be 2ranted fails as Ome2a has

3 established its copvri2ht infrin2ement claim.

4 Omega has already established that it is the owner of a valid copyright

5 (Registration No. V Au 574-660). See Pl.'s SUF #5. Costco has interfered with

6 Omega's exclusive rights under § 106(3) and 602(a) which constitutes copyright

infringement. 17 U.S.C. § 501. In addition to the statute, courts in this Circuit have

recognized the claim of copyright infringement under §§ 106(3) and 602(a). BMG

Music v. Perez, 952 F.2d 318 (9th Cir. 1991) ("BMG"); Parfums Givenchy, 38 F.3d

477; Omega S.A., 541 F.3d 982; Disco Azteca, 446 F.Supp.2d 1164; Microsoft

Corp. v. Intrax Group, Inc., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 83756 (N.D. Cal. 2008).

The Central District of California has specifically held that importation under

§ 602(a) constitutes a cognizable claim upon which relief can be granted. See UMG

Recordings, Inc. v. Norwalk Distribs., Inc., 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26302 (C.D. Cal.

2003) ("UMG"). In UMG, Defendant moved to dismiss for failure to state a claim

under F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6). Id. at *1-2. Plaintiff UMG owned a copyright to certain

recordings and artworks in the U.S. and licensed the rights to others in foreign

countries. Id. at *2-3. Defendant Norwalk was a "bulk publisher of phonorecords

that redistributes and resells phonorecords to individual retail outlets." Id. at *2.

Plaintiff claimed that Defendant obtained phonorecords in foreign countries and

imported them for resale in the U.S. Id. at *3. The UMG Court recognized the facts

as having stated a viable cause of action denying Defendant's motion to dismiss for

failure to state a claim. Id. at *14-15. Specifically, Defendant Norwalk's motion to

dismiss was denied where the first sale doctrine was raised as a bar to Plaintiff s

claim. See id.
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2. Costco's Second and Fourth Affirmative Defenses fail

because & 109 does not apply where the 200ds are

manufactured abroad.5

The Ninth Circuit has now made clear that the first sale doctrne -- § 109 --

does not apply to the facts of this case. Omega SA., 541 F .3d at 990. In order to be

subject to the first sale doctrine the copy must be "lawfully made under this title."

17 U.S.C. § 109(a). "The words 'lawfully made under this title' in § 109(a) grant

first sale protection only to copies legally made or sold in the United States. Omega

SA., 541 F.3d at 990; BMG, 952 F.2d at 319 (citing CBS, 569 F.Supp. 47 aff'd

without op., 738 F.2d 424 (3d Cir. 1984). Other cases have held similarly. See

C&C Beauty, 832 F. Supp. at 1378, 1383, 1385; Parfums Givenchy, 38 F.3d at 481-

482; Lingo Corp. v. Topix, Inc., 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1437, * 13 (S.D.N.Y. 2003);

UMG, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26302 at * 11-13; U2 Home Entertainment Inc. v. Lai

Ying Music & Video Trading, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9853, * 16 (S.D.N.Y. 2005);

Swatch SA. v. New City Inc., 454 F. Supp.2d 1245, 1253-1255 (S.D. Fla. 2006)

("Swatch SA. ").

The only cases to hold that the first sale doctrine applied in a § 602(a)

context, under different facts critically from this case, are in the Sebastian and

Quality King cases. Sebastian Intl Inc. v. Consumer Contacts (PTY) Ltd., 847 F.2d

1093 (3rd Cir. 1988); Quality King, 523 U.S. 135. Both of these cases involved

copyrighted works which were manufactured in the U.S., sold to foreign

distributors, and then made their way back into the U.S. (thus, making a "round

trip"). See Sebastian, 847 F.2d at 1098; Quality King, 523 U.S. at 138-140. In

particular, both of these decisions make clear that they are limited to cases where the

copyrighted goods were manufactured domestically or first sold by a United States

5 For further reference and details, Omega directs the Court to its Opposition

to the Defendant's prior Motion for Summary Judgment. See (D.E. # 181.)
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1 entity, therefore satisfying the "lawfully made under this title" requirement.

Sebastian, 847 F.2d at 1098; Quality King, 523 U.S. at 138-140, 154 (including the

concurrence recognizing that the Court's opinion did not reach cases where the

infringing imports were manufactured abroad). See also Omega SA., 541 F.3d at

990 (finding Ninth Circuit precedent that the first sale doctrine applies to copies

legally made and sold in the United States reconcilable with Quality King).

In addition to bearing the burden of proof as to the affirmative defense,

Defendant has the burden of proving that the alleged infringing copies were lawfully

made or acquired. See Lingo Corp., 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1437 at *13. Costco

has failed to meet this burden and lacks evidence to support that the goods were

"lawfully made under this title." See Pi"s SUP # 48-53.

The law is settled in the Ninth Circuit that the copyright owner's manufacture

and sale abroad does not terminate the copyright owner's exclusive rights under §

106 and 602. See Par/ums Givenchy, 38 F.3d at 482. BMG and the progeny of

cases that follow in the Ninth Circuit are binding authority in this Court. Id; Omega

SA., 541 F.3d at 990.

It is undisputed in this case that Omega manufactured the goods bearing the

Omega Globe Design copyright in Switzerland and sold the watches in Costco's

possession to non-U.S. distributors. See Pl.'s SUP # 1, 41 and 48. Because the

copyrighted works in question were manufactured and sold abroad, the first sale

doctrine is not a defense to Omega's copyright infringement claim. Omega SA.,

22 541 F.3d at 990.

23 For the reasons stated above, Costco's Second Affirmative Defense for failure

24 to state a claim under § § 106 and 602 fail when a work is first sold or distributed by

25 a U.S. copyright owner or its affiliates. In Swatch SA., summary judgment under §

26 106 and 602 was granted to Plaintiff, finding that where Plaintiff s wristwatches

27 were manufactured and first sold abroad, Plaintiff had been deprived of its first sale

28
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1 in the U.S. 454 F.Supp.2d at 1254. Specifically the Swatch court held:

2 "The wristwatches at issue here were manufactured and

first sold abroad. Therefore, the Court's opinion in

Quality King does not protect Defendant from a claimed

violation of § 602(a). The Court in Quality King expressly

recognized that the importation protection provision in §

602(a) applies to copies that are not 'lawfully made' under

the United States Copyright Act, but under the law of

some other country." ¡d. (internal citations omitted).

Other cases have had similar findings. BMG, 952 F.2d at 319 (defendant

purchased plaintiff s copyrighted works manufactured abroad and exported and

resold in the U.S.); Parfums Givenchy, 38 F.3d at 479 (permanent injunction

affirmed where third parties purchased quantities of copyrighted work abroad

imported them into the U.S. and sold to defendant who in turn resold the

copyrighted works to U.S. consumers). Thus, Omega is entitled to summary

judgment on Costco's Second and Fourth affirmative defenses. See generally,

Omega s.A., 543 F.3d 982.

3. Costco's First Affirmative Defense Fails Because Costco did

not have Ome2a's authority to Distribute Goods Bearin2 the

Copvri2hted Work

Costco never had Omega's express or implied authority to sell or import its

products bearing the copyrighted works. In fact, Costco was well aware that it did

not fit in with Omega's distribution scheme due to its numerous discussions with

Omega regarding retailing Omega watches. See Pl.'s SUF # 19-20. Costco cannot

now claim ignorance.

(a) Ome2a's Behavior Consistently Conveyed Vi2ilance.

Courts have found an implied authority to import and use copyrighted
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1 materials only where the conduct of the party reveals such authority. Disenos v.

2 Costco Wholesale Corp., 97 F.3d 377,381 (9th Cir. 1996) (written agreement from

3 copyright owner granting worldwide distribution rights to manufacturer), Effects

4 Associates, Inc. v. Cohen, 908 F.2d 555,558 (9th Cir.1990); Korman v. HBC Fla.,

5 Inc., 182 F.3d 1291,1293 (11th Cir. 1999).

6 Implied authority is interpreted only in "narrow" circumstances where one

7 party creates a work at the other's request and hands it over, intending that the other

8 copy and distribute it." A&M Records v. Napster, Inc., 239 F.3d 1004, 1026 (9th

9 Cir. 2001) (quoting Effects, 908 F.2d at 558, cert. denied, 121 S. Ct. 173 (2000).

lOIn Korman, the court held that a party's conduct created an implied non-

11 exclusive license to use copyrighted material where the plaintiff permitted a radio

12 station to use of its copyrighted radio jingles for seven years without objection. 182

13 F.3d at 1293.

14 Unlike the plaintiff in Korman, once Omega was made aware of the

15 infringing activity, it acted swiftly in protecting its valuable rights by filing suit

16 against Costco. The plaintiff in Korman waited seven years before acting on her

17 intellectual propert interests in the jingles which were being repeatedly used by the

18 defendants. This lack of action had the effect of giving the defendants an "implied

19 license" to use the jingles. In contrast to this case, Omega filed suit within only a

20 few months after discovering Costco's infringement. See Pl.'s SUP # 23, 24, and

21 28. Omega discovered the copyright infringement in May 2004 and filed a

22 Complaint for copyright infrngement in this Court less than two months later. See

23 Pl.'s SUP #23, 24, and 28.

24 Implied authority for importation and distribution in the United States was

25 found in Disenos because the plaintiff s manufacturers were granted rights allowing

26 them to sell the copyrighted figurines to "all countries of the world." 97 F.3d at 381.

27

28
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1 Costco cannot argue that authority for importation into the United States can

2 be inferred from Omega's contractual relations. Omega insists that contracts with

3 its distributors include detailed "territorial restrictions." See Pi"s SUF # 11, 13, and

4 16.

5 In fact, Omega's contracts with its distributors, such as OTAP in Turkey,

6 specifically restrict authorization to limited geographies. See Pi"s SUF # 11, 13,

7 and 16.8 REDACTED
9

10 See Pl.'s SUF # 16 and 17.
11 Omega is strict in its enforcement of this policy, terminating any distrbutor

12 who is in breach. See Pi"s SUF # 15. This policy was expressly communicated to

13 Costco. See Pi"s SUF # 19. Omega's tightly woven and strictly enforced

14 distribution scheme involves the sale of its Omega watches only through Omega's

15 own stores, and retail distribution through authorized retailers/distributors. See

16 Pi"s SUF # 10.

17 Furthermore, Omega's authorized retailers are held to the highest standards

18 which are assessed with exacting scrutiny.

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

REDACTED
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1 See PI.'S SUF # 12.REDACTED

2 In order to maintain the exclusivity and polished image of the Omega brand

3 watches, Omega has a well defined, unambiguous and consistent method of

4 behavior which includes territorial limitations on its distributors. Costco cannot

5 therefore legitimately claim that it had any notion of implied authority to deal in the

6 sale of Omega's product.

7 (b) Costco Was Expresslv Notified That it Did Not Have

8 Ome2a's Authority to Sell Ome2a Watches.
9 Costco was fully aware of Omega's strict distribution policy and that it did

10 not have Omega's authorization to sell Omega watches. See Pi"s SUF # 18-22.

11 Omega explicitly communicated this fact to Costco. See PI. ' s SUF # 18-22.

12 In A&M Records, where the plaintiff gave defendant "express notice" that it

13 objected to the availability of its members' copyrighted music on Napster, the

14 district court observed that no evidence existed to support the defense of "implied

15 authority." 239 F.3d at 1026.

16

1718 REDACTED
19

20

21 See PI.'s SUF # 20, 22, and 55. Costco followed through with its
22 threats, and went directly to the secondary market to purchase its Omega watches

23 with full knowledge that they did not have Omega's authority to do so and that they

24 were circumventing the copyright owner, Omega, S.A.

25 Similar to the defendant Napster in A&M Records, Costco was on "express

26 notice" that Omega did not authorize Costco' s actions. It is preposterous for Costco

27 to now claim it had any notion of implied authority. Thus, Costco's First

28
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Affirmative Defense for direct or implied authority must faiL.

4. Costco's Sixth Affirmative Defense for Estoppel and Waiver

Must Fail.

Waiver or abandonment of a copyright claim "occurs only if there is an intent

by the copyright proprietor to surrender rights in his work." A&M Records, 239 F.3d

at 1026 (quoting, 4-13 Melvile B. Nimmer & David Nimmer, Nimmer On

Copyright § 13.06 (2000)).

Furthermore, in order for Costco to prove the affirmative defense of copyright

estoppel the following elements must be established: (1) the party to be estopped

must know the facts of the defendant's infringing conduct; (2) he must intend that

his conduct shall be acted on or must so act that the party asserting the estoppel has

a right to believe that it is so intended; (3) the defendant must be ignorant of the true

facts; and (4) he must rely on the plaintiffs conduct to his injury. Thompson v.

Looney's Tavern Prods., 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 27551 (11thCir. 2006) (The

author's claims as to the 1998- 1 999 plays were barred by estoppel because she knew

of the performances since 1996 and told the production company that the play was

not infringing).

Omega never evidenced any intent to "surrender rights in its work." Costco

was in the chain of importation of the works at issue without Omega's authorization.

See Pl.'s SUF # 51-55. Omega has at all times been vigilant in protecting its

valuable intellectual propert rights and has repeatedly made this known to Costco.

Omega filed suit less than two months from confirming the infringing activity. See

Pi"s SUF # 23, 24, and 28. Unlike the plaintiff in Thompson, Omega never

condoned Costco's infringing activity at any time. See Pl.'s SUF # 10, 11, 13, 18,

23, 24, 28, 54, and 55. Costco cannot claim any reliance resulting in injury. Costco

cannot meet even a single element of the affirmative defenses of estoppel or waiver,

and thus Costco's affirmative defenses must fail accordingly.
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5. Costco's Third and Fifth Affirmative Defenses fail as a

matter of law because every member of the chain of
distribution is liable for cOPyri2ht infrin2ement and Costco's

intent or knowledge is irrelevant to a findin2 of liability.

The copies of works at issue in this litigation were imported into the United

States without the authority of Omega, the copyright owner. See Pi"s SUF # 35-38,

41, 45, 47, 50, and 55. Costco's third and fifth affirmative defenses attempt to

shield Costco from liability by claiming that "the statutory provisions (for copyright

infringement J apply only to the act of importation and do not apply to the act of

resale by persons not engaged in the act of importation," and that "(t)he action is

barred because (Costco) is a good faith purchaser for value." See Pi"s SUF # 58.

Well settled case law holds that such defenses fail as a matter oflaw.

Any member of the chain of distribution may be held liable for copyright

infringement. Disco Azteca, 446 F. Supp. 2d at 1173, citing CBS, 569 F. Supp. at

48-49. There is no need to prove anything about a defendant's mental state to

establish copyright infrngement; it is a strict liability tort. Educational Testing

Service, 95 F. Supp. 2d at 1087 (numbered paragraph 33). Further, Costco clearly

was intentionally and actively attempting to purchase Omega's products through

foreign markets. See Pi"s SUF # 20, 22, and 55.

Costco's third and fifth affirmative defenses in this regard have been soundly

rejected by the courts.

In Par/urns Givenchy, defendant Drug Emporium claimed that it was not a

copyright infringer under Section 602 because it was not the importer, but rather that

it merely purchased the copyrighted work from an importing third party. 38 F:3d at

479. See C&C Beauty, 832 F.Supp. at 1382 (stating that Drug Emporium is one of

C&C Beauty's largest customers). The Ninth Circuit affirmed the permanent

injunction under Section 602 against Drug Emporium. Par/urns Givenchy, 38 F.3d
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at 479. The Ninth Circuit reasoned that there was no material distinction "because

the purchaser of ilegally imported copies has no more authority to distribute copies

than does the original importer. ¡d. at 482.

In Disco Azteca, the defendant distributor attempted to avoid copyright

infringement liability for distribution of copies of musical CDs that had been

imported into the United States without authorization from the copyright holder, by

claiming that it only acquired the copies from the importer (known as "Musical,"

and not joined to the action). The defendant argued: "the units were brought by

Musical into the United States and delivered; Defendant did not import them."

Disco Azteca, 446 F. Supp. 2d at 1173. The Eastern Distrct of California rejected

this theory of defense, "assuming the truth of this statement" and held: "The fact

that defendant did not actually import the CDs is irrelevant to determnation of

liability." ¡d. Any member of the chain of distribution may be held liable for

infringement. ¡d.

"'A suit for infringement is analogous to other tort actions and infringers are

jointly and severally liable; hence plaintiff need sue only such participants as it sees

fit.' Moreover, good faith, or lack thereof, is irrelevant. 'Intent is not a necessary

element of infringement, and the copyright holder may proceed against any member

in the chain of distribution.'" CBS, 569 F. Supp. at 48-49 (internal citations and

footnotes omitted), cited with approval by Disco Azteca, 446 F. Supp. 2d at 1173.

Costco's argument that it did not import the copies in question, and was only a good

faith purchaser for value, is irrelevant. Costco' s third and fifth affirmative defenses

fail as a matter of law.

The rationale underlying these well settled and sound principles is simple, as

recognized by the court in CBS. Constring the statutes as suggested by these

26 defendants, and as Costco urges in this case, "would render § 602 virtually

27 meaningless. Third party purchasers who import (copyrighted works) could thereby

28
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circumvent the statute (under 17 U.S.C. § 602), in every instance, by simply buying

(copies of the works) indirectly." CBS, 569 F. Supp. at 49. As noted in CBS,
allowing the purchase of unauthorized copies of copyrighted works that had been

unlawfully imported would undermine the purpose of the statue. "The copyright

owner would be unable to exercise control over copies of the work which entered

the American market in competition with copies lawfully manufactured and

distributed under this title." Id. This proper notion was most recently explicitly

upheld under identical facts6 in Swatch SA., the court held that "Swatch had the

right to prevent these products from entering the United States and competing with

the identical products authorized to be distrbuted here." 454 F.Supp.2d at 1254

(citing Parfums Givenchy, 38 F.3d 477).

The suggestion that Costco can escape liability under Section 602 because it

is not the actual importer (mentioned as a possibility in footnote 4 of Omega SA.,

541 F.3d at 986 under Denbicare USA., Inc. v. Toys "R" Us, Inc., 84 F.3d 1143

(9th Cir. 1996) ("Denbicare")) ignores the Ninth Circuit's rule in Parfums Givenchy.

Parfums Givenchy and the above referenced cases apply to the facts of this case, and

are inapposite from the facts in Denbicare, which involved copies expressly

authorized to be imported for sale in the United States by the copyright owner.

In Denbicare, the importation was found not to violate Section 602 because

the court determined that the copyright holder themselves imported the copyrighted

works into the United States (a foreign trade zone). Denbicare, 84 F.3d at 1149.

Specifically, Denbi Products, the copyright holder,7 authorized a shipment order

6 Just as in this case, the products at issue in Swatch SA. were watches

bearing works protected by copyright (on which Swatch, a Swiss company, had U.S.
registrations) that had been manufactured in Switzerland and imported into the
United States without the copyright holder's authorization.

7 Subsequent to the authorized importation into the United States, Denbi

Products, filed for bankruptcy, where its assets including the copyrights were sold
by its bankrptcy trustee. Denbicare, 84 F.3d at 1145.
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from Hong Kong to the United States. ¡d. at 1145. Because the copyrighted goods

were already authorized in the United States, defendant did not violate Section 602.

¡d. at 1148-49.

Unlike the plaintiff in Denbicare, Omega, the copyright holder here, never

authorized the importation of the watches bearing the copyrighted Omega Globe

Design into the United States. Costco is liable for copyright infringement under

Section 602 because the copyright owner (in this instance, Omega) did not authorize

the importation into the United States, just as the "non-direct" importing defendants

were found liable in Parfurns Givenchy and Disco Azteca.

Costco's third and fifth affirmative defenses fail as a matter of law. Summary

judgment on these defenses should be granted in favor of Omega. As in the cases

discussed above, summary judgment on Costco's liability for copyright

infringement should likewise be granted in favor of Omega.

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /
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v. CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above, summary judgment should be entered in favor of

Omega and against Costco on the issue of liability for copyright infringement under

17 V.S.C. §§ 106(3), 501, and 602(a), and on Costco's First through Seventh

Affirmative Defenses. Trial should then proceed on the issue of Omega's remedies,

including but not limited to damages, injunction, and attorneys' fees.

Respectfully submitted,

DATED: July 13, 2009 COLLEN IP

THEODORA ORINGHER MILLER & RICHMAN PC

By:J~ S
Jess Collen
David S. Richman
Patricia S. Riordan
Kenneth E. Johnson
Attorneys for OMEGA S.A.
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